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ARCHAOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CEYLON
ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1959

FROM the time the former Archmological Commissioner, Dr. 5. Paranavitana
(now Professor), retired in September, 1956, the Department has had no permanent
Head up to the time of writing this report. As was inevitable under such conditions
the administration and work of the department had gradually fallen below the
standard. It was, therefore, necessary to see that conditions improved. The staff
had been depleted, some posts suppressed and vacancies left unfilled, while the
duties of the Department had increased due to the lively interest evinced by the
general public in *heir past culture, and to the creation of a new Ministry of Cultural
Affairs under which the Archsological Department was placed. Furthermore, the
subject of Archeology was added to the curricula of the University of Ceylon and
other higher educational institutions of the Island.

Notwithstanding the new interest growing in-the country over the subject, it was
found that in certain quarters the maximum effort was not being made to meet the
demands of the day. The first task in improving the conditions of the Department
was to make the best use of the officers and workmen. Most field officers were
reluctant to undertake duties in places which were not regular stations, and work had
heen almost confined to Anuradhapura, Mihintale, Sigiriya and Polonnaruva.
Numerous places which had been opened up had gone hack to jungle and roads and
paths opened at these sites, and leading to them, had been neglected and sometimes
had gone out of use completely. Worse still was that unique monuments excavated
in such places had been left unconserved, at the mercy of the elements, and allowed
to moulder away. :

The administration of the Antiguities Ordinance had also gone by default, parti-
cularly in regard to protected monuments. New buildings had been put up in close
proximity to “ protected ”’ ones, even those to which the rules under the Antiquities
Ordinance had been applied. One glaring instance is the erection of a new dévala at
the southern entrance of the Kirivehera at Kataragama. The rules had been flouted
by some of the .owners of the ¢ protected ” Portuguese and Dutch churches in the
Jaffna Peningula.

The workmen of the Department had not even begun to realize the importance of the
work they performed in discovering the ancient culture of their land, and were
despising the most important work in this respect, namely, taking part in excavation.
To them the excavation party was the ¢ earth-party ” (Sinhalese: Pas-piliya).
There was a scramble among workmen for assignments such as temporary Guards,
Watchers and Bungalow-Keepers. It is gratifying to note that most of the labour
units have now realised the importance of the services they are called upon to perform,
and, in fact, at least some of the men realise that it is a privilege to serve in a Depart-
ment that fosters and preserves the culture of their land.

All workmen who were in comparatively comfortable posts, which could not be
justified, have been reverted to their former places. Several workmen had grievances—
some of these quite justificd—that no system had been adopted in grading them.
The system of grading workmen into skilled (Grades I and II), semi-skilled and
unskilled, according to their abilities, is now being strictly adhered to, so that a
workman in the lowest grade has every chance to earn his promotion provided he
makes himself efficient and suitable in other ways.

Two workmen, one a Guard, Mr. H. A, Sirisena, and the other a Kangany, Mr. S,
Ratnapala, both of whom have passed the Senior School Certificate examination,
while serving in the Department were in temporary charge of stations. In course of
time, if found suitable, they could be graded as Supervisors of Works and made
eligible for promotion as Overseers, Inspectors, &e.
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Consequent on the placing of workmen on montkly pay arrears of salary had to be
paid to some of the men. It was very difficult to attend to the demands of nearly
800 persons inclusive of field officers and office staff. The administration had given
the workers new privileges such as salary advances, distress loans, advances for the
purchase of bicycles, &c., and the staff had to cope with this additional work without
any addition to its number. The preparation of History Sheets for the labourers also
was an urgent matter. The Establishments Branch at the Head Office consists of
only one E.C.C., Grade 11 Clerk, three G.C.C. Clerks and one temporary clerk. How-
ever, most of the History Sheets were completed before October 1, 1959. The Finance
Branch consists of one E.C.C., Grade II Clerk, four G.C.C. Cleiks and one Q.C.8. Clerk.
Of these the Q.C.S. Clerk is only a drag in the office as he is under treatment for a
neurotic complaint. Despite these handicaps payments to the regular working staff
have been made before the end of each month. Inerements to workmen, involving a
sum of Rs. 30,000 for the financial year, have been granted and rayments made at
the new rates. It also must be mentioned that the Establishment Branch at the
Head Office, has, in addition to dealing with matters regarding staff, also to deal with
all ancient monuments, antiquities and other matters of archseological and cultural
interest throughount the Island.

LIAISON WITH OTHER DEPARTMENTS

Anuradhapura New Town Advisory Committee

Anuradhapura is at the moment the chief centre of archeeological activity. The
decision of the Government which was made as early as 1940, to remove the accumu-
lation of modern buildings and free the sacred city, if given effect to, should have
afforded the department a great opportunity for exploration and excavation leading
to valuable knowledge regarding the plan of the old City. The department, however,
had not been able to benefit by this move as the building of the New Town had
progressed too slow for the removal of modern activiby, such as trade and
administration, from the old city. The little development which had taken place
also had been planned without due regard to archwmological interests. No action
had been taken to deviate the roads which passed through archeeological reserves.
There was in fact the likely danger of some of them being improved,

The Archezological Commissioner had not been a member of the New City of
Anuradhapura Advisory Committee. Nor was there any authority for co-ordinatin o
the work of different departments in the old city. In early 1959, the Arch=ological
Commissioner was co-opted to the Advisory Committee of the New City of Anuradha-
pura. A separate Committee was formed for the co-ordination of the work in the
Sacred City, with the Government Agent, Anuradhapura (Chairman) ; the Special
Commissioner, Anuradhapura ; the Government Town Planner ; the Arch=zological
. Commissoner and a representative of the Director of Public Works. The Archaological
Commissioner or his representative attended all meetings of these Committees.
During the year under discussion steps were taken to make a beginning in the removal
of the centre of activity by the closing of roads that converged in front of the Sacred
Bo-tree. In these matters the Archzological Department received the co-operation
of most other authorities concerned. The acting Archological Commissioner
or his representative has attended almost every meeting of the following
sub-committees :—

(@) Sub-committee for the naming of roads in the Old Town and New Town.
(b) Sub-committee for the clearing of the Sacred City of unwanted buildings.
(¢) Sub-committee for the preservation of the Sacred City of Mihintale.

Other Committees

The present writer was appointed a member of the Advisory Committee on
Changes of Names of Villages and Towns and he has attended its meetings, He was
also co-opted to the UNESCO Commission of Ceylon.
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THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON ANTIQUITIES

The Special Committee appointed by the Minister of Local Government and
Clultural Affairs a few years ago to report on the affairs of the three departments,
namely. the Government Archivist's Department, The Department of National
Museums, and the Archaological Department, issued their report about the middle
of 1959. The acting Head of the Archmological Department was called upon by
the Ministry of Cultural Affairs and Social Services under which the Archaological
Commissioner came ag from July 12, 1959, to comment on the references of the
Special Committee’s report specially on those findings whieh affected his Department.
A gtatement running to twenty-five typed pages was submitted by the present
writer early in 1960.

ANTIQUITIES ORDINANCE

The Legal Draftsman had been advised during the previous year to have the
Antiguities Ordinance amended so as to bring under the control of the Archwological
Commissioner all ancient monuments in private land whether gazetted as * protected
monuments *” under Section 18 of the existing Ordinance and its Amendment or not,
and also to bring all historical sites under the control of the department. The
difficulties in administering such a great number of monuments and such a vast
acreage of land, were pointed out to the Ministry by the acting Head of the
department. The Ministry decided to lay by for the time being, any change of
legislation likely to cause complications.

Permits and Licences

During the year the following permits were issued for photographing monuments
and antiquities :—

Permits for still photographs and non-commercial cine-films

with 16 mm. cameras .. S e 453
Permits for photographing objects in departmental Museums 2
Permita for cine-films with 35 mm. cameras s 5

Total .. 460

Eighteen export licences under the Antiquities Ordinance were also issued during
the year.

ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Neither the Advisory Committee on Protected Monuments nor any of its panels
met during the year. A committee, however, had been appointed by the Permanent
Secretary to the Ministry of Local Government and Cultural Affairs to go into the
question of restoring the Mahasfya at Mihintale. This committee, which consisted
of (1) Mr. A. N. 8. Kulasinghe, Chief Assistant Harbour Engineer, Colombo Port
Corporation ; (2) Mr. K. Ramanathan, Chief Engineer, Designs, Public Works
Department ; and (3) Mr.W.E. Fernando, formerly Chief Dranghtsman, Archazological
Department met several times.

No definite proposals or plans for the rebuilding of the monument had been
fortheoming until the end of 1959.

DISTINGUISHED VISITOR

Dr. Rajendra Prasad, the President of the Indian Republic, when on a state visit
to Ceylon expressed his keen desire to see the remains of the ancient civilisation
of Ceylon. The present writer conducted the President and his party through
Polonnaruwa on the morning of Thursday, June 18, 1959, through Anuradhapura
opn the evening of the same day, through Mihintale and Sigiriya on Friday, June 19,
1959.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 1959

Revenue

« A sum of Ras. 1,661'44 was received from the sale of publications, photographs,
picture post cards, maps, &e. A further sum of Rs. 3,994-80 was received in respect
of postal and telephone revenue, interest and annuities and rent of quarters. With
miscellaneous receipts the total amounted to Rs. 14,480-74.

Expenditure
Administration
Bs. ¢ Ra, &
{a) Salaries of staff paid from P. E. Tt .. 198;879 31
() Cost of living and special living allowances e < 159,069 B
(e} Other allowances = £ Fo 21,515 53
(d) Travelling = 3 i 33,852 86
—————— 432,816 78
Exploration, Excavations and Conservation of ancient sites H L. 997,595 80
Publications and Exhibitions b i o s 42 75
Miscellaneons
{a) Stationery, office furniture and office requisites i 6,985 94
(b) Incidental expenses o ; i 3,184 39
(¢) Construction of semi-permanent qguarters [or llLbOLlr(‘lE, main-
tenance of existing quarters and purchase of equipment d 6,736 41
() Library T A 27 e 3,862 35
(e} Purchage of chemicals and materials = a 5,210 96
{f) Grauts 2 b &3 1,950 O
{g) Are haeuluglubl Museums A A i 5,911 62
(k) Maintenance and running expenses of departmental motor
vehicles 3 47 i% .. 11,128 89
() Uniforms s i < v 1,811 53
(7) Awards to informants and finders of antiguities. . 3 150
(k) Photography .. o e s 4,519 12
() Electric current e o 1 4,874 90
{m)} Epigraphy o w7 =¥ 5 20 50
{n} Scholarship in archwxology = A 14,796 40
(o) Scholarship allowances to Assistant CDIIlIIlLSSlOl'LGI‘ (Chemist) .. 401 67
71,554 68
1,502,010 01

A sum of Rs. 647-88 was expended or the item Restoration of Mahasiya,
Mihintale, and this expense was charged to the Loan Fund Vote.

The expenses under Popular Publications, Guide Books, and Picture Postcards
were charged to the Advance Account Vote,

Personnel

Up to the beginning of 1959 the following have successively attended to the duties
of Archmological Commissioner, whitl post was rendered vacant by the retirement of
Professor 8. Paranavitana who went on leave preparatory to retirement on September
26, 1956.

W. 8. Karunaratne, Esq., Assistant Commissioner (Epigraphy) from September
25, 1956, to January 24, 1957.
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J. H. Lanerolle, Esq., C.C.8., January 24, 1957 to February 21, 1957.

P. E. P. Deraniyagala, BEsq., Director, National Museums, February 21, 1957, to
May 1, 1958 (Acting Archmological Commissioner).

Prof. P. C. Sestieri, loaned to the Government of Ceylon by the UNESCO, May
1, 1958, to February 17, 1959 (Acting Archeological Commissioner).

Prof. P. C. Sesticri, who came to the [sland to advise the Government on
Archezology and acted for the Archzeological Commissioner for a period, left the
Island on February 17, 1959.

Dr. C. E. Godakumbura who was Senior Lecturer in Oriental Languages in the
University of London on secondment b y the Government, resumed duties as Assistant
Archaological Commissioner on January 26, 1959. From February 17, 1959,
Dr. Godakumbura has heen attending to the duties of the Archeeological
Commissioner,

Mr. R. H. de Silva, Assistant Commissioner (Chemist), left Ceylon on Aungust 8,
1959, for a three-year course of study at the Oxford U: niversity.

Mr. P. K. Silva, Clerk, G.C.C., was transferred to this Department on April 26,
1959, in place of Mr. 8. D. A. Gunasckera Appubamy who left the Department
to take up appointment as Public Health T nspector in the Department of Health
and Sanitarv Services. :

Mr. M. H. D. Fernando, Clerk, G.C.C., was transferred to this Department on
January 8, 1959, in place of Mr. P. P. Thangaraja who was transferred to the
Department of Inland Revenue on the same date,

Mr. W. B. M. Fernando, Superintendent of this Department was successful at the
London M.A. Examination of 1960, offering Sinhalese as his main subject. His
special subjects for this examination were (n) Art and Architecture of Ceylon, and
(b) Sinbalese Palaeography and Numismatics.

Mr. J. 8. A. Uduwara, the Keeper of Museums of the Department, obtained a
Diploma in Museography with specialisation in Archazology issued by the Museums
Association of Great Britain. On the strength of above diploma Mr. Uduwara bas
been made an Associate of the Museums Association of areat Britain.

Mr. P. T. Madawala, Clerk, Q.C.8., was transferred from the Department of
Education to this Department on December 16, 1959,

PHOTOGRAPHY

383 new negatives were added to the Department’s collection during the year,
1,042 prints were made, out of. which 124 were sold to the public. Thirty-seven
enlargements were made for the Archeeological Department’s stall at the Exhibition
held at Kurunegala, arranged by the Municipal Council of the City.

LIBRARY

During the year 1959, 74 books including the complete set of volumes of the
English Translation of the Mahabharata were added to the Library by purchase. 167
miscellaneous journals and periodicals were received in exchange from foreign and
local institutions, and a work entitled “ Tamils and Ceylon " was kindly donated to
the Library, by its author Mr. C. S. Navaratnam of Jaffna.

The use of the Library was allowed for some time to University and Pirivena
teachers and students, External students preparing for University degrees, Staff
Officers of other departments engaged in rosearch work and other advanced students,
but this practice had to he severely curtailed owing to lack of space for reference
work and the fact that there was no guarantee from those loaning books for the safe
and prompt return of the books. Attention to the needs of such persons also made a
heavy demand on the time of the Librarian who works single handed,
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Sometime ago we had to give up the use of closed shelves in the Library as this led
to the deterioration of the books for lack of ventilation and sun-light. This created
another problem—the damage to books by rats. When remedies such as fumigation
and the use of rat traps and rat poison failed we engaged the services of a cat.
Although at the start we seemed to have solved the problem we are now wise to the
fact that given the time, even a rodent could foil the ingenuity of both men and cats.
The rats have, in their own way, made use of no less than 300 volumes, while we are
at our wits end how this menace could best be eombatted.

PUBLICATIONS

The English Guide Book to Sigiriya published in the latter part of the previous
year had a good sale during the year under review. The Sinhala version of the same,
however, has not yet been released for sale as copies of the old issue are yet in stock.

5,000 copies of a new Sinhala Guide Book to Mihintale, priced at 50 cents a copy,
were printed. The sale of this issue commenced during the year.

Mr. J. 8. A. Uduwara, Keeper of Museums, Anuradhapura, contributed an article
on the Kuccavali Buddha to the Museums Journal: ** A Buddha Image ” with
figures. Museums Journal, Vol. 58, March, 1959, pp.-274-276.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL MUSEUMS
Anuradhapura

Lack of space for exhibiting objects has hitherto been a serious handicap at the
Archaeological Museum, Anuradhapura, and the Department has for some time been
obliged to stow away much of the finds. The Government Agent, Anuradhapura,
decided to hand over to the Department the buildings of the Old Kachcheri, in order
to house the Archmological Museum. Financial provision has now been made and
plans are afoot for housing this museum in these buildings.

The following objects have been added to the collection of the Archeological
Museum at Anuradhapura during 1959 :(—

1. Ancient agricultural implements from Perimiyankulama,

2, A frieze of ganas.

3 Two sedant Buddha figures in dhyanimudrd from Nadumaduva in Koddiyar
Pattu.
4. Sherds from the excavations at Gedigé reserve, Anuradhapura.

The Department participated in an exhibition sponsored by the Kurunegala Munici-
pality. The Keeper of Museums of the Department, Mr. J. 8. A. Uduwara, was
responsible for the organization of the Arch=ological stall at this exhibition.

Dadigama

Steps were taken during the year to arrange the finds at this site-museum so that
they may illustrate the work of the archeeologist at the site. It was found necessary
to re-label several finds, and provide descriptions for objects which were not described

CIRCUIT BUNGALOWS

The departmental Circuit Bungalow at Polonnaruva which was taken over by the
Military at the time of the communal disturbances in 1958 was not available to the
Department during the year under review. This made the supervision of work in the
station extremely difficult.
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The lack of houges tor occupation at Anuradhapura compelled the Department to
do away with the Circenit Bungalow of the junior staff. The Circuit Bungalow of the
senior officers had, therefore, to be shared by all officers. Officers of other depart-
ments and members of the public were making constant requests for the use of our
Circuit Bungalow at Anuradhapura, and the administration of this Circuit Bungalow
has taken & great deal of time of the Head office and the Acting Head of de partment
himself. This also has greatly inconvenienced departmental officers lodging at this
Circuit Bungalow. The Circuit Bungalow at Yapahuva which had been in a state
of neglect was extended and repaired fully, as important conservations had to be
undertaken at the station.

Arrangements were also made to re-open the Circuit Bungalow at Patiduvasnuvara,
It is from this station that conservation of the unique * temple on pillars ** at Dorabi.
vila has to be directed.

The Circuit Bungalow at Sigiriya was repaired.

WORK AT REGULAR STATIONS

Following is a brief statement of work carried out at regular stations during the
year 1959 . —

Anuradhapura
EXCAVATIONS

Clitadel—The excavations in the southern part of the citadel which were conducted
by Professor P. (. Sestieri were suspended at the beginning of the year prior to his
leaving the island. Professor Sestieri desired that this site be left undisturbed as
he hoped to resume the excavations on a subsequent visit to the Island which he wag
hoping to arrange with his government, or an institution in Ttaly.

Mahavihara.—The investi gation regarding the ancient Mahavihara area in the sacred
city had been already begun in 1949, when excavations were made at the foundations
of the Lovamahapaya, in the area between the latter and the new wall ot the Sacred
bo-tree grounds.  In order to facilitate these_excavations the part of Dickson Road
which ran between the b6-tree Tem ple and Lovamahapaya was closed, and traffic from
the centre of the city diverted. B Vv 1959, however, the area had already been encroa.-
ched upon by various traders. Steps were taken with the co-operation of the authori-
ties concerned to clear this area. Trial excavations had been done in 1950 to the west
of the bo-tree and a part of the old wall of Devanampiyatissa had been uncovered.
The Mahavamsa, and its commentary, and other literary works such as the Mahiho.
dhivamsa-gitapadaya state that the oldest Buddhist Monasteries of Anuradhapura
were located to the west of the western entrance of the bodhi-tree. The modern shops
by the Kurunegala-Anuradhapura road which had come up on this gite had been
demolished, but excavation work could not be properly started because all roads
still converged at a point just north of this area. In order to have the centre of
activity in the old city removed from this area, the department with the co-operation
of the Government Agent, Anuradhapura, and the Special Commissioner, Anuradha.-
pura, began the construction of a road to connect the Kurunegala road with a road
leading to Dickson Road. At the same time the removal of the foundations and
floors ot the modern buildings in the site west of the bo-tree was started. It involved
much labour to remove the concrete and cement of these modern foundations, but
good use of the debris from this site was made for construction work of
the road just referred to. Thereby the Department also avoided piling up heaps of
debris which might have later on appeared as sites of ancient buildings as it hanpens
in other parts of Anuradhapura.
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Kuttam-pokuna.—The outlet channel of Kuttam-pokuna traced some time ago through
privately owned property was covered up after drawings and photographs of same
were made. The channel, originally a surface drain provided on the bare ground and
not built up. was found buried well under the presénh surface level, At one point
were found, alongside the channel and lying in the same direction, two short picces
of terracotta piping which, however, did not appear to have any relation to the
channel.

Alkaradolaha.—The most fruitful excavation for the year at Anuradhapura as far as
finds are concerned, was aceidently started by a private individual, Mr. W. M. Mudi-
yanse, Process Server, Fiscal’s office, Anuradhapura. Mr. Mudiyanse was digging a
well in a land called Akkaradolaha off Jaffna Junction when at a point about 8 feet
from the surface he came across a brickwork. He had not obtained the permission
of the Local Authority for sinking this well, but brought the ruatter prom ptly to the
notice of the Superintendent of this department at Anuradhapura.

The department stepped in immediately and conducted a scientific excavation.
The excavation exposed an intriguing structure built of brick in which deposits
had been mado with some particular purpose in view, and yielded some pots and
ancient coins as the principal finds. Photographs and drawings have been made at
this site and the finds taken over by the department. Plates 1 ¢ and b and Plan 1 ¢.

The following small finds were discovered at a depth of between 53 and 64 feet below
present ground level at this site i —

Piece of bronze rod

Beads of coral and other material

Pieces of quartz and chalcedony

Fragments of glass

Picce of blue glazed porcelain

Corroded iron object resembling a nail

Piece of copper wire

Piece of bone and two red-slipped ferra cotta -dishes, one inverted over the other
and enclosing a bone.

The coing found at the site are enumerated below in the relevant section:

CONSERVATION

The work on the old stone wall running gouthwards from the structure at the entrance
of the Kapararama complex, the conservation of which was already under way, was
continued this year. During the year the stones on this wall were laid and fixed to
a length of 195 feet and a height of 5 feet.

MAINTENANCE

« Pointing ” was done at all the important monuments under the control of the de-
partment at Anuradhapura. Among the monuments which received attention were
the Dakkhianthipa, Nakhavehera, structures in the vieinity of Thaparama, Jétavana-
rama and Abhayagiriya, Khujjatissa-vihara, Pacinatissapabbatavihara, the palace
of Vijayabahu 1 and the palace of the Apa at Basavakkulama.

Mihintale
CONSERVATION

The ancient retaining wall near Ambasthala dagiba was found crumbling and steps
had to be taken for its conservation. Fallen bricks and about 70 cubes of debris were
removed from this site with a view to its conservation.
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The conservation of Mihifidusiya is in progress. The brickwork at the base of this
digiba has been re-done in keeping with the old work. Two of the basal terraces
have been completed.

ROADS

The mortar joints of the flagstones in the paved road leading to the Danasalava were
being washed away by the flow of water during rainy weather. Hence joints of the
flagstones were re-done in cement mortar resetting the stones where necessary.
An area of 7062 square feet was dealt with in this manner during the year.

Since the balustrades on either side of the main flight of steps at Mihintalé were
tending to get washed off, a cement concrete was laid on the top of both these to a
breadth of about 3 feat. The length involved in each wall was 290 feet.

MAINTENANCE

Other roads, paths and the reserves were kept in good repair during the year.

MAHASAYA

As reported above the Ministry of Cultural Affairs had appointed a panel of Engi-
neers to report on the work proposed to be done at Mahasiya, Mihintale. As required
by the panel of Engineers this Department obtained and forwarded soil samples
from the radial sections of the foundations of the dagiba. Yor this purpose an operator
and a boring instrument were kindly loaned to the Department by the Chief Engi-
neer (Bridges), Mr. M. Chandrasena.

Polonnaruva

The work at this station had to be reduced to the barest minimum owing to the
difficulties involved in supervising the station since the departmental Circuit Bunga-
low there was occupied by the Military the whole year.

CONSERVATION

The old brickwork of structures near Aldhana Pirivena was exposed and conserved
with a cement lime mortar. The portion ot the brickwork involved was 246 feet X
8 feet x 4 feet.

MAINTENANCE

The important monuments, reserves more frequented by visitors, and foot-paths
in them, were well maintained during the year.

Sigiriya
EXCAVATIONS

Paths.—Excavations were conducted in order to trace the ancient path from the
western gate to the gallery, and paths that lead to the buildings which existed on the
cave-boulders at Sigiriya. These paths are elaborate, at places hemmed in on either
side by retaining walls built of rubble or brick and at others provided with steps.
Sometimes a path belonging to one period is intersected by another of a ditferent
period. This shows that the paths, and hence the buildings of Sigiriya do not belong
to one reign, but are of various periods. The investigation of this system of pathshus
already thrown some light on the dating of the different architectural features at
Sigiriya. The finds at the excavation include some interesting types of pottery which
have been carefully collected. Problems connected with the construction of these
paths are being studied,
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-

Sumanit.—On the summit of the Sigiriya rock, at a point where supposedly was the
arched lintel of a doorway, a shaft was sunk for the purposes of investigation. The
investigations, however, revealed that what appeared to be an arched lintel was
actually part of a brick retaining wall built on filling which had subsequently scttled
on either side,

CONSERVATION

Conservation of brickwork on the summit started during the previous year was
completed in 1959. By way of preparation for the conservation of the large pond on
the summit its limestone paving slabs were dismantled but the rest of the work could
not be taken up for want of funds.

A brick wall exposed sometime ago at the * Lion’s platean ” was conserved. The
main path referred to under excavations was conserved to a length of 150 feet. This
also involved the conservation of the brick sidewalls found thrown askew and the
resetting of 83 limestone steps found broken or thrown out of position. The gateway
leading south from the main path of cave No. 5 was fully conserved,

NEW ROAD

The modern flight of steps and the paths that lead to tho gallery and the summit
of the rock of Sigiriya do not follow the ancient path. The present entrance is through
a breach in the rampart at its south eastern end. Inorder to give the visitor to Sigiriya
a correct perspective of the gallery and the rock, a road has bsen planned branching
off from the Inamaluva-Sigiriya Road at the Rama-kils dagiba to the Western
Gate, which was the original main entrance to the fortress, From hore the visitor will
go along the ancient paths through the pleasure gardens viewing the ponds and the
summer houses. He will then climb up to various buildings and finally to the gallery
through the paths that are being now excavated.

MAINTENANCE

All roads and foot paths and the pleasure garden wera proparly maintained during
the year.

Yapahuva

The rubble retaining wall of the terrace of the cave shrine room at Yapahuva, which
had collapsed, was rebuilt proviling a flight of steps, and the terrace was once more
filled in and levelled up. The dimensions of the portion rebuilt are 154 foet X 5 foet
7 inches X 2 feet.

In the course of the work uf exposing the inner rampart wall on the North-Western
side a find, shaped very much like a modern steel helmet nsed by the military, came to
light. It is made of bronze (with a high percentage of lead) and is wasted in parts.
The evidence available suggests that it was meant to be used as some sort of container
with its concavity held upwards and precludes its having been anything like a helmet.
This has been brought to the department’s laboratory for inspection.

The department had already gone through a good deal of preliminary work in
connection with the conservation of the ornamental gateway at Yapahuva, when
heavy rains resulted in the collapse of a section of this monument. The stones on the
portion thus suffering damage happened to be unnumbered at the time. Hence the
problems we already had in connection with this work increased manifold. The walls
of the monument were shored up and all other precautions taken to arrest further
damage.

The outer moat on the south side of the citadel which was badly silted up was
dredged.
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A new set of labour lines consisting of five rooms was constructed in order to bring
departmental labour on transfer to begin the urgent conservation works.

Conserved ruins, roads and paths were kept in good repair during the year.

Madirigiriya
GENERAL
Part of the departmental road from Yoda-ila to Kavdulu-ila measm;ing approxi-
mately 39 miles was handed over to the Irrigation Department on the instructions
of the Hon’ble Minister of Lands and Land Development in Fobruary, 1959. In

September, 1939, also on the instructions of the Minister, much of the remainder
of this road was handed over to the Irrigation Department.

EXCAVATIONS

The remains of a structure with moulded blocks of granite situated opposite the
Vatadigé at Midirigiriya were unearthed and details recorded. The dimensions
of this structure are as follows : —

Lower half 44 feet x 11 feet x 2 feet 2 inches.

Upper half 43 feet x 19 feet x 4 feet.

The conservation of this ruin will be undertaken in due course.

EXPLORATION

Two stone statues in secular garb were found at a site called Taldkolaviva off
Miidirigiriya. An excavation was conducted at the site and severed portions of the
statues were recovered. The statues have been erected onthe same site and the odd
fragments removed to the store at Madirigiriya. (See Plate 2.)

MAINTENANCE

An extent of about 20 acres of jungle around the group of ruins at Madirigiriya was
converted to park land by the removal of its brushwood.

The reserve and its group of ruins were properly maintained during the year.

Jafina Peninsula and Islands

The labour unit at the archaeological station at Jaffna was reduced in April, 1959,
after the Ramparts were completely weeded and urgent conservation work attended
to. The roots of the more deep rooted plants were killed chemically by a gang of men
working under the direct supervision of Mr. R. H. de Silva, Assistant Commissioner
(Chemist), in May and June.

At Fort Hammenhiel, in Kayts Harbour some repairs, which did not much affect
the architectural features, have been attended to by the Public Works Department.

Pafiduvasnuvara

All conserved ruins, roads and footpaths at Paiiduvasnuvara have been maintained
during the year.

Part of the jungle behind the Circuit Bungalow was cleared and arrangemoents
were made to fence in a part of the reserve.
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Dimbulagala

During the year the jeep tracks and footpaths leading to the ruins here as well as
those at Kosgaha-ulpota and Pulligoda have been maintained. The area around
Namal-pokuna cleared during the previous year was maintained this year. A further
tract of about 5 acres of jungle in the area was cleared.

Velgama (Periyakulam)

The departmental road connecting Periyakulam to Anuradhapura-Trincomalee
road has been retraced in order to shorten it, The new demarcation has made this
road shorter by about a mile. This road has been alteady made upto a distance of
about £ mile and four causeways have been provided. Trees have been removed
for a distance of about another } mile for this road.

The temporary labour lines here wero converted this year to semi-permanent
quarters. On the monuments themselves no work has been done this year except
for the maintenance. ;

Dadigama

The debris which had not been so far removed from the northern side of the maluve
of the Suitighara-cétiya (Kotavehera) was removed during the year in order to make
the maluva more spacious.

An old brick kiln exposed in the course of this work was conserved. A similar kiln
on the eastern side near the road too was conserved. Part of the cétiye on the
northern sector hitherto unexcavated was exposed and conserved during the year.

A small stipa was found on the eastern fringe of the Kotavehera and completely
encased in it. It was evident that this st@pa was built earlier than the larger one,
popularly called Kotavehera, In order to carry out the conservation of the main
stwpa ab this point on proper lines, and also to understand the meaning and purpose
of this smaller stiipa it was found necessary to carry on an excavation of this struc-
ture. This work, however, is to be left over for the next year.

WORK AT OTHER ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESERVES
Uva Provinee

Galabidda.—This reserve was kept clean and the conserved bathing pond kept in
good condition.

Buduruvagala—The road to the sculptured rock was maintained during the year.
The site called Galbudunténna nearby was also maintained.

British Fort at Haldummulla.—The reserve was kept in good condition.

Habidssa, Maligavile, Dambégoda—Sirice there was not even a jeepable road to the
reserve, a jeep track was provided from Okkampitiya to Habiissa. The roads to the
other two reserves are yet in jungle and could not be opened up due to financial
restrictiors.
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Sabaragamuwa Province

Sitavaka (Birdndikovil, Bandaravatta and Kikilibittarayavela).—These reserves in
Sitavaka were cleared of weeds. The approach road to Birindikovil was made
motorable and a wooden gate provided at the entrance to the site.

British Fort at Ruvanvillae.—The rank vegetation on this monument was removed
and the reservation maintained satisfactorily. The Ministry decided to allow
the Village Committee of Dehigampalkoralé to build their Headquarters at the
site subject to certain restrictions. i

Padavigampola.—The site of the prehistoric dolmen at Padavigampola was weeded
and its barbed wire fence repaired.

Centiral Provinee

Nalanda.—The road leading to the Gedigé at Nalanda from the Dambulla-Matale
P. W. D. Road was fully repaired. A new gate to the reserve was provided. The
sculptures at the shrine which had been misplaced were re-arranged. For instance,
a Guardstone was used here as the central object of worship.

Madnikdenpa.—A new road was traced to the site from the Village Committee Road
and a camp established for commencing work at this site. The site was cleared and
paths provided to the various monuments. Three inscriptions were copied from this
site. (See section on Epigraphy). Action was taken by the end of the year to open a
regular station at Minikdena. A detailed account of the site and monuments will
appear in the Report for 1960.

Kundasale—A building occupied by the Military during the war, situated on
departmental land at Kundasals had been taken over by the department. As it was
considered that this place being situated within easy access of all sites of archo-
logical interest in the Central Province, would be of immense use in connection with
the department’s work a start has been made to effect some minor repairs to this
building to make it serve as a centre of operation.

Simhapitiya.—The barbed wire fence here was damaged, and its barbed wire and
wooden fence posts stolen. It is now proposed to appoint a caretaker at this site
after repairing the fence.

Gurudeniya.—The reserve was kept clean during the year.

Fort at Balana.—This being the site of a well known battle is very popular and is
often visited by parties of school children and other interested persons. Hence
measures have been taken to enclose this reserve and to keep it clean.

North-Western Province

Arankiile—The present road to this reserve from the public road through the village
of Hipavva ig over a hill and then along a village tank bund. It is, therefore, difficult
to make this road motorable. The Government Agent, Kurunegala, has been requested
to provide an alternate road which could be made motorable. A trace of a much
shorter approach road has been already pointed out.

7—J. N. R 13837 (11/60)
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Rajangané.—The boundaries of this reserve were re-opened and encroachments
stopped. Arrangements were done to make the site a regular station and conserve
the monuments including the remains of the Vatadagé with special features, which
were excavated some years ago. o '

Southern Province

Tissamahdrama.—The fences of the reserves at Tissamaharima, Galkanumandiya
and Akurugoda were repaired and “he reserves kept in good condition. The inscribed
pillar at Akurugoda which was covered with earth was cleared once more.

Rambavihdra.—The paths to various buildings in the site were cleared. The site
is now frequented by visitors.

Kirinda.—The Department has not been able to get the encroachers ejected so far.

Kustarajagala,—The site has been kept clean and the sculpture has been looked after.

Western Province

Koitte—The ancient sites at Kotte, the tomb of Alakésvara in Atul-Katte, and
Biddegané site in Pita-Kotte were looked after by a caretaker.

A problem noted was the occurrence of fllhgi growing on the brick work of the
monuments at Biddegang.

PROTECTED MONUMENTS
Midavala :

. Rajamahavih@raya.—The department was engaged for a number of years in the study
of a special kind of shrine built cn pillars of stone called in Sinhalese fdm-pita-vihare,
or pilimagé many examples of which are found in the Kurunegala and the Kandy .
Districts, Most of these edifices have been renovated, sometimes very grotesquely
during the recent opulent years of the Island, and all their ancient and artistic value
lost. It was considered therefore desirable to apply Section 18 of the Antiquities
Ordinance to ‘protect’ a small number of these buildings, each with different archi-
tectural features and to conserve them. (Plates 3a and 3b.)

The first edifice of the type taken in hand was tbe fdm-pita vikdragé attached to the
Rajamahaviharg, Miadavala in the Kulugammanasiyapattuva of Harasiyapattuva in
the District of Kandy. This building, is a very good example of this type of ancient
Sinbalese architecture. It contains artistic ornamentations and wall paintings
typical of the 18th century, the period of its earlier restoration.

The building is reared on stene pillars 1 foot 9 inches high set on a foundation of
rubble 1 foot 8 inches high. This foundation and pillars may be remains of the earlier
edifice constructed in about the 15th. century by a King of Dadigama. The stone
pillars support a grid work ot substantial wooden beams (10 inches X 10 inches) and
floor boards (4 inches thick) are fixed on to this. On this floor rises the shrine room
13 feet 9 inches x 9 feet 6 inches with a gallery 3 feet wide round it. The walls of
the shrine room are of wattle and daub. The stairway leading to the entrance to
the shrine-room had originally been a flight of stone steps, beginning with an orna-
mental moonstone, and flanked by balustrades with gajasimha (elephani-lion)
sculpture. The frame of the huge wooden door is elaborately carved. - In front as.
one enters is a sedant Buddha statue with pedestal, and over it is a makara-iorana in
high relief. The forana is carved in wood and finished with plaster and paint.
The figures of a pair of door keepers guard the entrance.
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Among the wall paintings are scenes from the Vessantarajataka and the Uraga-
jataka (Fausboll, No. 354 = Sinhalese Jataka-pota, printed by Munasimha, pages
604-606). (Plated.)

The history of the site, the story of building the shrine, some ‘of its architectural
features, details regarding the statues and subjects of the wall paintings are described
in & copper plate grant dated December A.D. 1756, (Month of Utiduvap, Saka Year
1677) issued by King Ki-rti Sri Rajasimha of Kandy (A.D. 1747-1782). The copper
plate is with the chief incumbent bhikkhu of the Rajamahavihiraya.

An extract from that portion of the grant which describes the renovations effected
during the reign of King Kirti Sri Rajasimha is as follows :—* The Mudali of Dunuvila,
the lord of this district, accepted the royal command . . . , and with the help of the
people of the district removed the overgrowth from the vikdra site and constructed
walls and buttresses. He also constructed an image house (tdm-pita-vikdrageyak)
seven cubits in length, placed on pillars, and supported by beams with decorated ends.
In it they made an image ot the Buddha in the vajrasang attitude, seated under a
torana of mi wood (wild sapota tree : bassia longifolia) : and also figures of gods of'
the Sakra, Brahma, Suyama and Santusita worlds, On the ceilings and the walls
they made variegated pictures of the great disciples such as Sariputra, stories from
Jatakas such as the Urafiga and Visvantara, the figures of the Bodhisattvas Maitri aud
Natha who are in the Tusita abode. OQutside the two flanks of the door were adorned
by a pair of goblins with sword in hand . .. ”’, -

When the department undertook the conservation and the renovation of this
tdm-pita-vihdrage, the whole structure wasin a very bad state of neglect and disrepair.
Almost the enfire woodwork was decayed. A railing fixed to the wooden posts had
run round the gallery serving as a support. This had disappeared ‘but for a small
remnant in one solitary corner. Following the model of this piece of work the entire
railing was fully restored, according to the old pattern. The decayed timber of the
roof was replaced. There was a mixture of old flat tiles and round ones when the
roof was dismantled. The replacement of tiles was done entirely with flat tiles of the
old type, and this has brought back its original grace to the building. The foundation
was set in cement mortar to prevent the formation of white ant nests. The entire
woodwork was coated with colourless solignum wood preservative.

A modern shrine room has been built alongside and almost adjacent to the {dm-pita
vikarage, obstructing its entrance. The sculpture which decorated the entrance to,
the original shrine of the 15th century, —according to the grant cited above—
namely the moonstone, the stones of the steps, and the gajasimha balustrades (Plate5),
which may have been used for Kirti-Sri Rajasimha’s building also, are utilized very
crudely at one of the entrances of the modern image house. These pieces of beautiful
sculpture, though found at the site, could not be used in their proper place at the
conserved shrine, as there is no room to place them properly.

In its work at Midavala the department was engaged in the preservation of a
building which is yet being utilized for religious purposes and therefore a great deal
of rebuilding and renovations had to be done. In the reconstruction, the old work
had to be very faithtully reproduced wherever the old material had to be replaced
with new ones. This was done to very minute detail even with regard to the cuts at
the joints of timber work.

The conservation and rebuilding was done under the supervision of Mr. L. K,
Karunaratne, the then first Draughtsman.

A full account of the place, the history of the shrines, the inscription found ut the
site, the work of conservation and renovation will appear in a separate monograph
which is being prepared.
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Kataragama

Kirivehera.—A private society which had embarked upon the re-construction of the
Kirivehera approached the department for help in the preparation of the restoration
plans. TIn order to find data for this purpose excavations were made at the site by
representatives of the society with the help of the staff of the department and
employing departmental labour during the middle of the year under review (1959).
During these operations the retaining wall of the modern maluva (200 feet x 200 feet)
was partially exposed on three sides. Furthermore, pits were dug in the maluva,
evidently to locate the depth of the foundation. One of these pits on the northern
section of the maluve which was left uncovered was found to cut through built
brickwork. The significance of this brick structure had, however, not been found out.

Towards the end ot the year the Restoration Society requested the department to
- examine their plans for the restoration of the dagiba. They also requested the depart-
ment to dismantle all the new accretions on the old structure, and remove its loose

portions. I also became necessary to undertake an excavation to locate the relic-
chambers. 7 '

The dagdba, as it stood at the commencement of the excavation, was 90 feet in
diameter and 54 feet high. The recent outer casing, about 3 feet in depth, built of
modern engineering bricks, rose to a height of 20 feet at its highest points. The
dagibastood on a square maluva 200 feet X 200 feet, The western and southern side of the
dome had partially collapsed. Thesouthernside had been partly repaired with modern
bricks, The top of the dome was covered with debris, on which were growing creepers
and bushes. On the top of this debris wasa structure of recent origin, purporting to
appear like a hatardskotuva. This was somewhat like a cube, nearly 2 feet X 2 feet
X 2 feet. On the top of this structure was a concrete cube 1 foot X 1 toot X 1
foot, and it served as the base of a flag-staff of galvanized pipe about 12 feet high.

Brickbats, of the ancient type were heaped up on the north-western sector of the
new caging.

The flag-staff was removed with its base. The new hatardskotuva was then dis-
mantled. Debris on the level 44 feet—38 feet was removed. This consisted of earth
and brickbats. Some of the bricks were marked with Brahmi akgaras.

In the centre of the above region were the signs of a relic-chamber, Two division

walls of such a structure were in a state of partial preservation, Finds at this part
of the excavation were:

(1) A modern standing Buddha statue of metal, 9% inches high with pedestal
and siraspota, placed on the concrete cube on the summit.

(2) Seated Buddha statue with forana, metal, 6-8 inches on debris at 42nd foot
from the maluva. The torana was in pieces. '

(8) Circular clab of stone, 1adius 8 inches, possibly fallen from the pinnacle,
(4) Coins, V. 0. C,, ete.

The bricks from the various levels were sorted. The measurements of some of the
full bricks are 18 inches X 9 inches X 2°'5 inches, 12 inches X 12 inches X 2°5

inches (chamfered) found at 35 feet-38 feet of dome. Few moulded bricks were also
tound in the debris.

As the restoration plans had to follow the pattern of the ancient edifice as far as
it was possible, it was found necessary to collect all information regarding the plat-
form (majuva) and the entrances to it. With this purpose in view, trial pits and trenches
were made on the existing maluva. During this process an inner majuva was uncovered
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about 40 feet from the edge of the present platform. The excavator of the society
_ in fact had dug through the edge of the upper mafuva on the northern side when he
cut through the brick structure which was referred to earlier. At the south-eastern
end the mouldings of the inner or upper maluva were found in a very fine state of
Ppreservation, even its plaster coating being intact.

From the trial diggings made on the maluva it was possible to say that there were
two terraces, the upper paved one (salapatara-maluva) and the lower processional
path (véli-majuva). The present retaining wall of the modern maluva is the parapet
wall (prakara) of the old lower maluva. The lower maluva at some date has been
filled up to the level of the upper majuva, and thus the two terraces connected into
one large platform.

Other Protected Monuments

The Archeological Department due to lack of personnel and funds is restricted in the
uddertaking of conservation or repair of protected monuments under Section 23 of
the Antiquities Ordinance, No. 9 of 1940, However, the department saw to repairs
at the Srj-Subhadr&r&may& at Balapitiya and Totagamuva Ratpat-vihdraya at
Telvatta in the Western Province. Action has been taken to constitute the grove of
nd trees at Dodanvala davals in the Kandy District into an Archmological Reserve.

The protected monuments in the Jaffna Peninsula received attention at the hands
of the Assistant Commissioner (Chemist) and his skilled workers.

EXPLORATION

Western Provinece

Mdddégama.—About one mile on Hissilla Road, branching off from Viks (Weke)—
Piigoda Road, is the ancient site of Middégama of Gafigabada Pattu in Siyani Korala
East, Colombo District. As one goes towards Hissilla the rock containing ancient
caves with drip-ledges on them is on the right hand side of the road, and on the
left the modern temple. On a plateau located amidst the caves on the summit of the
rock is a bé-tree. An old bo-tree is on a rectangular platform, and its branches

weighted down with age are propped up. All over the maluva are bo-saplings which
can well be those of the older tree.

At the summit, of the rock are found the traces of an anecient inscription. The modern
vihdrage built in one of the drip ledged caves is below the b-tree. Another cave
below the bé-tree platform is supplied with enclosing walls.

New stone steps have been furnished on the path from the road to the rock. The
names of the donors, that of one « Amarasimha ” conspicuous among them, have
been incised on these steps.

Rev. Panigoda Vajirafiina Thero, the resident bhikkhu of the temple, informed
the writer that there are about 12 acres of temple land planted with “coconut and
rubber, which have come back to him as the result of a, law suit with another bhikkhu.

Since there are several places known by the name of Middégama one cannot be
quite certain whether or not this Middégama is the one referred to in the Maha-
bodhivamsa and the Calabodhivamsa.

The bo-tree at the site was gazetted asa protected monument * during the year.
Moftunna in the Midapattuva of Siyand Korale West, Colombo District (Map
reference 1.2/14). The Venerable Mottunne Indasara Thero had informed the depart-

ment in 1958 about the vikdragé on pillars and beams known as Kiritarama in Mot-
tunna, and the wall paintings of this temple, stating that he considered them to be

’
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about 150 years old. The site and the vikdragé were inspected in September, 1959.
The vikdragé was found to be one of the variety known as the tdmpitavikara (seeabove
under Midavala, in the section on PROTECTED MONUMENTS). The building
may go back to early 19th century, and the paintings on the walls may have been
originally done during the same period.

Here, close to the modern temple of Mottunna is also a well known dévalé situated
beside a stream, on a tract of highland in a paddy field. This too was inspected.
One can be certain that the foundation of this group of temples, as well as the bo-trees
in whose shade the temples nestle, go back to the time of the kings of Kandy. The
local god venerated at this shrine is a Bandara god. His name and attributes and the
rites and observances at his shrine all indicate that he, like the other gods of the
Kandyan times, is the apotheosis of a local chieftain.

Here, the names of the people, the language they speak, their customs and manners
and in fact the very locality itself preserve to this day reminiscences of times prior
to the British period. o

Kdragala in the Gafigaboda-pattuva of Siyand Kéralé East which is described in the
Hamsasandésaya was visited during the early part of the year in connection with the
inspection of Miiddégama. It was noted that the slab containing inscriptions at the
site was deteriorating and needed attention.

Omaita in Kalutara Disirict. A site supposed to be containing some ancient remains
which the local Rural Development Society wanted to obtain on lease, weos inspected
at the request of the Government Agent, Kalutara. The transfer has been recom-
mended by the department as there are no ancient remains here.

Southern Province

Unavatuna dévala is situated along the sea coast in the village of Unavatuna.
The buildings on this site are modern and there is nothing of archaological interest.

Aggabodhi-vikara at Viligama (Map reference 0 24/30) was inspected in order to
find out whetber it has any connection with the Kustarajagala statue which is about
1 of a mile south of it. Though it is believed that the bo-tree at this site is contem-
porary with the statue at Kustarajagala there is nothing to prove the cradition.
The buildings at the site are modern.

Damuiilyaya. The Government Agent, Hambantcta, sought the advice of the
department in connection with the application for the lease of lot 27 in F.V.P. 318.
An inspection of the site revealed several stone pillar stumps in an area strewn with
brick bats and broken tiles. The lease therefore was not recommended.

Sabaragamuwa Province

Kandékitiya in the village of Panamuré is about 1} miles south of Dutugdmunu
Rajamahavihara. (Map reference P6 [{43.) This site is in private ownership. The
remains here are (1) A fairly large dagiba built on a brick platform which seems to
have been rifled by robbers, (2) The fragment of a pillar inscription, and (3) A rectan-
gular mound in which another ancient structure is obviously buried.

Bambaragala Sénasanaya is situated in the slopes of the wooded hill 4} miles north
of Pallevala bazaar. (Map reterence P 1/26.) Here there are a number of rock caves
at least three of which contain drip ledges and Brahmi inscriptions. On the natural
surface of the rock at the base of the hill is a Brahmi inscription beside which the
likeness of a bow and arrow is incised. In the jungle, to the south of this, is a
rectangular mound with projecting stone pillars on it and the torso of a Buddha
statue.



SoreNcE AND ArT]  ARCHAEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CEYLON G 47

Terunnanségama.—An abandoned village on the left bank of the Valavégafiga situated
about 43 miles north-east ot Ambilipitiya bazaar. (Map reference P. 12/9.) The
ruins here are in dense jungle and are marked by several mounds with pillar stumps
showing out of them. An unauthorised excavation here, has brought to light a
sculptured stone with a frieze ot dwarf. on it, and the torso of a Buddha statue,

Dutugimunu Rajamahavik@ra.—This iz in the village of Panamuré in Ratnapurs dis-
trict (Map reference P. 6/43.) The site is oceupied and the dagdba renovated. There
is & heap ot fragments of sculptural and architectural remains collected from the
site in the course of this renovation. In this collection was found the torso of
a dolomite Buddka statue 6 feet high.

Central Provinece

Akarahaduva is situated on the right bank of the Athbangafiga (Map reference
1.10/30.) At this site there are the remains of a parapet wall on three sides, a brick
built ddgdba in ruins, several stone pillars and a dressed stone slab.

North-Western Province

Balavaitala is in Kurunegals District. (Map reference 1.9/64.) The department
has approved the lease of Lot 67 in P.V.P. 1148 the only remains in which are a circular
‘mound with brickbats and rubble in it, situated on the summit of a hill,

Haliyala is situated 13 miles north of Dambadeniya bazaar. (Map reference I. 1848).
This is in a privately owned estate and the remains here are a small circular mound
of brick and a few stone slabs and spur stones.

Rajallegama. Near a pond to the south of the dagiba here was found a badly
weathered inscription. The dagiba though renovated is an example of the paddy-
heap shape dagobas.

Talakurukitiydve in Puttalam District (Map reference F. 17/54) has a medium-
sized ddgdba on its tank bund. Close by were found a ruin with stone revetments
and a few scattered stone slabs, The department has given its approval for the
release of this site for restoration by a society of the villagers, since there is no place
of worship in the neighbourhood.

Poliukulama (Map reference I. 6/8). The Jungle in and around the area was
cleared, and the aree required for an Arch wological Reserve here was demarcated in
order that a sketch plan be supplied to the Government Agent for a requisition
survey.

Ambagasviva and Palugolle. An inscription was found on the bare rock surface
at each of these sites, in the vicinity of each of which there were ancient remaings,
(Map reference F 20/50 and F 23/17 respectively.)

Uva Province

Balaharuve is in Villaviya D.R.Q’s division (Map reference M. 22/54).  The
remains at this site are (1) a small brick mound, probably the remains of a dagiba,
(2) a stone revetted ruin, and (3) several mounds in s 8quare enclosure of 'side 150
foet. I
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Eastern Province

Rahatgala in Batticaloa District. This is the site of an ancient Buddhist monastic
establishment still containing the ruins of a dagiba, an image house and a number of
other ruins. As is to be expected on a site such as this, there is also a tank nearby.
On this site is a recent encroachment by persons desirous of using this as a place of
worship. Action has been taken to conserve the ruins early without allowing inter-
ested parties to continue any further the vandalism which is already apace.

GAL-OYA BOARD AREA

An exploration of the Gal-oya Valley was undertaken during the year by the present
writer. The Gal-oya Development Board placed two of the Land Rovers belonging
to the Board and the Navakiriya Circuit Bungalow at the disposal of the cfficers of the
department during this circuit. Mr. P. C. Dabare, the Arch=ological Officer of the
Board, joined our party in some of the explorations. The following sites were
explored :—

Rajagal-kanda. A footpath across a tea plantation near village 34 leads to this
hill. ~ Almost as soon as the ascent to this wooded hill commences one comes across &
flight of steps, some built in stone and some cut on the living rock. On the flat
summit ot this hill are the remains of & monastic establishment. This area, about
300 acres in extent contains a number of undisturbed ruins, the layout of which
itself is interesting. Among these are a circular building, a rectangular pillared
hall, a dagiba and a large unfinished Buddha statue 19 feet long, which recalls the
famous colossal statue of Avukana. This statue is lying prone on the ground, its
face upwards probably in the same position as the sculptor left it in its unfinished
state. The work has not been abandoned for any mistake arising in its execution,
and one could visualize how some calamity like flood, pestilence or war had wrested
the chisel from the sculptor’s hand.

On the sides of thig hill are a number of caves which must have been inhabited in
pre-historic times, to judge from the primitive drawings in one of them. (Plate 6.)
Eye copies of a few inscriptions found on this hill have been made.

Balagalla tank site.—Three slabs of sculptured stones consisting of a dwarf and a
fragment of a guardstone, set into the head wall of a sluice were found near this tank.
At a point about 100 yards away in the jungle is a 14 feet wide stone paved ancient
road which extends nearly half a mile.

Knodavatavana tank.—At this place, referred to in the Reports of the Archasological
Survey of Ceylon, 1949, 1950, is a dagdba built on a terrace 50 feet square. A rubbing
of an inscription at this site was prepared.

Vavinna ruins.—Although the land around here has been cleared for colonization
purposes this site covering a few acres has been left undisturbed. Here there are the
ruins of a ddgiba and a shrine room. At the ddgiba site is a solitary stone pillar capital
with a sculptured frieze of geese. A standing lime-stone Buddha statue has been
brought to light here,

Muvangala ruins—This site is on a large rock in the area of the new sugar farm.
There are two inscriptions here, one on the face of the rock and another below the

drip ledge of a cave. The latter is now covered by a brick wall of later date built against
it,

Ruins in village 5.—This is another rocky site where there were a few pillar stumps,
ruins of a d@giba and the fragments of a medicine trough.

Kukuluva Mahavikara.—This site is close to the old village of Téttama. A priest is
in occupation of a wattle and daub building of recent construction on this site.
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Alahéra ruins.—A portion of the remains of a ddgiba situated alongside the Ekgal-aru
channel has been levelled up by tractors. Fallen at the base of this dagiba was found
a stone umbrella (chatra).

Dighavapi.—About a mile off the well-known ddgiba here, is a large area of ruins
covered by jungle, which contains a large group of buildings worthy of turther
investigation as is evinced by a study of the contours and the pillar stumps which
jut out, A medicinal trough found at the site indicates that the site is connected with
an ancient hospital (Plate 7).

Amparé—A trial excavation carried out at a site behind the base workshop
revealed the remains of a ddagdba built on a square plattorm. The terrace had been
paved with slabs of stones, Among the finds was a fragment of a rectangular coin.
At one of the entrances was a pot filled with river sand, possibly sand over which
charms had been repeated, placed there as a portent of luck (Plates 8a and 8b).

Jafina Peninsula and the Islands

A preliminary short exploration for ancient sites was made by the department in the
Jaffna peninsula and Nagadipa. :

ANCIENT COINS

A hoard of 359 coins was found in a * colony ” near Médirigiriya. They are grouped
as follows :—

Sahassa-malla S 1 &
Dharmadoka-déva .. 22
Lilavati .26

359

The following five coins were also found at the site of the well at Akkaradolaha :
1. Coin with maneless lion to right.

2, Mineralised rectangular coin, obverse : head of lion to right recognisable,
reverse : circle. Codrington Plate 19.

3. Coin greatly corroded, with two corners where the angles are slightly
obtuse, rest roughly cireular, one side concave and the other slightly
convex.

4. Corroded rectangular plaque. Not identifiable in present state.

5. Major fragment of a small coin similar in size to Roman coinage. Too far
corroded to be identified.

Chemical Treatment of Antiquities
Following is the report of Mr. K. E. Wijesinha, Technical Assistant in Chemistry.

“ The following works have been attended to by the Assistant Commissioner
{Chemist) before be left the Island on August 6, 1959, as is indicated in the various
files.
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The efficiency of B. P. L. Water-repellant solution was tried out at Didigama for
the treatment of ancient brick-work.

Three of the wooden pillars of the Midavala vihdra were treated with chlorinated
phenol wood preservative. An experiment was conducted on the timber floor boards
in this vihara to test the usefulness of plastic wood for the treatment of decayed
timber.

Sections of the image house at Gadalddeniya were treated with acquaristo-water-
repellant by way of experiment. The rank vegetation, trees and plants in Juniri
Pond at Jaffna were cleared and the more deep-rooted plants were killed with Tree-
kalling solution.

Vegetation on the rootf of the Church at Cankanai, and moss on the side walls of
the same church were removed and loose sections of plaster consolidated. Silicofluo-
ride solution was applied on the walls of this church to check the growth of moss, ete.

The rank vegetation on the walls of the churches at Accuvéli and Myliddi and on
the Fort at Plinarin (Pooneryn) was removed,

Portions of the painted plaster at Degaldoruva Temple which were getting loose
were consolidated by filling the broken edges of the plaster with a cellulose plaster.
The painted plaster on the walls of Midavala vihira was also consolidated.

Loose sections of plaster in the small fresco pocket at Sigiriya were strengthened .
Electrolyte removal of verdigris from bronze objects and coins, a method by which
the corrosion products are reduced to the oxides before removal, was tried out and
found to be suecessful.

The following antique objects, chiefly of bronze were examined and or treated at
the Laboratory : (1) One seated Buddha statuette, height 2 inches, (2) One standing
Buddha statuette, height 5 inches, (3) Three small bronze Buddha statuettes, (4) Two
bronze statuettes of the Maitri Bodhisattva, (5) One studded bronze rod depicting
a lotus stem, (6) One bronze tray (shaped like a lotus flower) in fragments, (7) Four
bronze lamp stands, (8) One bronze Buddha statuectte in dhyani-mudra, beight
4 inches.

Models of several stone statues from the Colombo Museum were prepared by this
department for an exhibition to be held at Kurunegala in January 1959.

The statue at Avukana was treated during the year. The encrustations of salts on
the statue were dealt with by the use of paper pulp and chemicals.

. Potsherds recovered from the excavation at Pomparippu and from various other
parts of the Island have been put together in the laboratory and several complete
vessels (with a minimum of supplied deficiencies) have been reconstituted. >

EPIGRAPHY

THE Assistant Commissioner (Epigraphy) was not in the island during the whole
of the period under review. _
The Collector of Inscriptjions has prqém-ed\._ estampages of the following
ingcriptions during the year :— X
1. One Rock Inscriptiok from K&biﬂﬁleﬁa:'_'-?émiyapola.

2. Four Pillar Inscriébtidr‘ls from bund of “Sea of Pardkrama’ between Polon-
naruva and Dumbutuluviva.

3. Ore slab inscription from Midavacei (one side).
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4. One pillar inscription from Piiriya Vihara (now called Sri Maliyadéva Raja-
mahavihara,) Kapuvarala village in Alavva (three sides).
One rock inscription (one line) from Muvangala near the Ampars Sugar Farm,
One rock inseription from a site above the Ampire tank.

N o @

Two rock inscriptions from near rock pool in Maduvagala, in Aibagasviva
village, Konviva. (one of one line—one of two lines),

8. Two juxtaposed rock inscriptions from Devramvehera close to Palugolla
village (recorded on one rubbing).

9. One inscription from a block of stone from Panduvasnuvara (one line).

10. One rock inscription from Periyakadu vihara in Nalava village, Kurunegala
District (re-copied).

11. One pillar inseription from Galgang Vihare in Midavala—Kandy District.
12. Three slab inscriptions from Ménikdena.

Further particulars of the newly copied inseriptions are given in Appendix IF.

APPENDIX 1

List of Sites declared ¢ protected * in 1959*
Place, No., and date

No. Province District Viilage Name of the of Gazette notification
Monument  gnq other particulars
1. Western .. Colombo .. Meddegama .. The Bo-tree known Lot No. A 435 in

as Meddegama P.P.6312 Gazette
Rajamaha Viha- No. 11,862 of
raye Purana  September 25,
Bodhivahanse 1959

2. North-Western.. Kurunegala .. Ridigama .. Ridi Vihara .« Gazette No. 11,745
of May 20, 1959

3. North-Central .. Apuradhapura .. Ralagama .. Purana Nakhsa i
Vihara

* Names in this list as well as the more popular place names elsewhere in the report are given
in their official spelling, and not in their scientific transliteration.
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